## **Collective Agreement**

#### between

The Corporation of the City of Peterborough

(hereinafter called "The Employer")

Party of the First Part

and

Canadian Union of Public Employees and its Local 1833 Party of the Second Part

(hereinafter called "The Union")

# **Table Of Contents**

Article 1 - Preamble	1
Article 2 - Management Rights	1
Article 3 - Recognition and Negotiation	2
Article 4 - No Discrimination	3
Article 5 - Check-Off of Union Dues	3
Article 6 - The Employer & the Union shall acquaint New Employees	4
Article 7 - Employer/Union Relations	4
Article 8 - Grievance Procedure	5
Article 9 - Arbitration	7
Article 10 - Discharge, Suspension and Discipline	9
Article 11 - Seniority	10
Article 12 - Promotions and Staff Changes	13
Article 13 - Layoffs and Recalls	18
Article 14 - Hours of Work	20
Article 15 - Overtime	24
Article 16 - Holidays	26
Article 17 - Vacations	27
Article 18 - Sick Leave Provisions	30
Article 19 - Leave of Absence	34
Article 20 - Payment of Wages and Allowances	38
Article 21 - Job Classification and Reclassification	41
Article 22 - Employee Benefits	42
Article 23 - Technological and Other Changes	45
Article 24 - General Conditions	46

Article 25 - Present Conditions and Benefits	46
Article 26 - Copies of Collective Agreement	47
Article 27 - Term of Collective Agreement	47
Article 28 - Joint Job Evaluation Committee	48
Article 29 - Joint Labour/Management Committee	49
Salary Schedule for CUPE Local 1833	51
Appendix A – Re: Christine Sieber	52
Appendix B – Layoffs	53
Appendix C – Joint Scheduling Committee	54
Appendix D - Introduction of Customer Service Specialist	56
Alphabetical Index	57

Collective Agreement made this 1st day of January, 2020.

#### Between:

The Corporation of the City of Peterborough

hereinafter called "The Employer"
Party of the First Part

- and -

Canadian Union of Public Employees and its Local 1833

hereinafter called "the Union"
Party of the Second Part

#### Article 1 - Preamble

- 1.01 It is the purpose of both parties to this Collective Agreement:
  - (a) To maintain and improve harmonious relations and settled conditions of employment between the Employer and the Union.
  - (b) To recognize the mutual value of joint discussions and negotiations in all matters pertaining to working conditions, employment, services, etc.
  - (c) To encourage efficiency in operations, and
  - (d) To promote the morale, well-being and security of all employees in the bargaining unit of the Union.
- 1.02 It is now desirable that methods of bargaining and all matters pertaining to the working conditions of the Employees be drawn up in a Collective Agreement.

## **Article 2 - Management Rights**

- The Union recognizes the right of the Employer to hire, promote, demote, transfer, suspend or otherwise discipline and discharge an employee for just cause, provided that procedures contrary to this Collective Agreement are not used, and provided that a claim of discriminatory promotion or demotion, or a claim that an employee had been discharged or disciplined without proper cause, may be the subject of a grievance and dealt with under the provision of Article 8 of this Collective Agreement.
- 2.02 The Union further recognizes the legal right of the Employer to operate and manage its business in all aspects in accordance with its responsibilities. In addition, the location of its plants or places of employment, the methods,

processes and means of performing the various works are solely and exclusively the right and responsibility of the Employer. The Employer also has the right, and the Union recognizes it, to make and alter from time to time the rules and regulations to be observed by the employees, such rules and regulations shall not be contrary to the provisions of this Collective Agreement.

## 2.03 Rights Not Specifically Mentioned

Any rights of the Employer or the Union which are not specifically mentioned in this Collective Agreement and which are not contrary to its intention shall continue in full force and effect for the duration of this Collective Agreement.

## 2.04 Not Discriminatory

The Employer shall not exercise its right to direct the working forces in a discriminatory manner. Nor shall these rights be used in a manner, which would deprive any present employees of employment, except through just cause or as otherwise provided by this Collective Agreement.

## Article 3 - Recognition and Negotiation

## 3.01 Bargaining Unit

The Employer recognizes The Canadian Union of Public Employees and its Local 1833 as the sole and exclusive collective bargaining agent for all employees save and except CEO/Library Manager, Library Services Manager, Administrative Assistant, and persons above the rank of CEO/Library Manager, and hereby agrees to negotiate with the Union, or any of its authorized committees, concerning all matters affecting the relationship between the parties, aiming towards a peaceful and amicable settlement of any differences that may arise between them.

# 3.02 Work of the Bargaining Unit

Persons whose jobs are not in the bargaining unit shall not work on any jobs, paid or unpaid, which are included in the bargaining unit, except in cases mutually agreed upon by the parties. This article shall not apply so as to prevent the CEO/Library Manager, Library Services Manager, or Administrative Assistant from periodically doing work on jobs included in the bargaining unit to meet emergency situations.

#### 3.03 Volunteers

Volunteers may be used to enhance the services provided by the Library but they shall not be used to replace or reduce the hours of work of a bargaining unit employee.

#### 3.04 No Other Agreements

No employee shall be required or permitted to make a written or verbal agreement with the Employer, which may conflict with the terms of this Collective Agreement.

## 3.05 Resolutions and Reports of the Employer

Any report or recommendations to be presented in open Council sessions, dealing with matters pertaining to the Collective Agreement shall be communicated by the Employer to the Union when available to the public.

#### **Article 4 - No Discrimination**

### 4.01 Employer Shall Not Discriminate

The Employer agrees that there shall be no discrimination, interference, restriction, or coercion exercised or practiced with respect to any employee in the matter of hiring, wage rates, training, up-grading, promotion, transfer, layoff, recall, discipline, classification, discharge or otherwise by reason of age, race, creed, colour, national or ethnic origin, ancestry, political or religious affiliation, sex, sexual orientation, family or marital status, place of residence, citizenship, record of offenses, handicap, or by reason of membership or activity in the Union.

## 4.02 Respect and Dignity

The parties recognize that all employees are expected to perform their duties with integrity, honesty and impartiality and to conduct themselves at all times in a manner that recognizes the dignity and respects the rights of others. All employees are expected to be professional and polite in all communications with every member of the public as well as those persons with whom they work.

#### Article 5 - Check-Off of Union Dues

It shall be a condition of continuing employment that all present and future employees of the Library shall become and remain members in good standing of the Union. The Employer, however, shall not be required to discharge an employee who has been expelled or suspended from membership in the Union other than for unlawful activity against the Union.

#### 5.02 Deductions

The Employer shall deduct from employees covered by this Collective Agreement, the appropriate assessment for Union Dues as determined by the Union and owing by the employee to the Union, each pay day, and forward the monies so deducted to the Secretary-Treasurer of the Union not later than the fifteenth (15th) day of the month following, together with the names of employees added or deleted during that period who are subject to the payment of Union dues as specified in this agreement.

# Article 6 - The Employer & the Union shall acquaint New Employees

## 6.01 New Employees

The Employer agrees to acquaint new employees with the fact that a union agreement is in effect, and with the conditions of employment set out in the Articles dealing with union security and dues check-off.

## 6.02 Copies of Collective Agreement

On commencing employment, the employee's immediate supervisor shall introduce the new employee to the union steward or representative. The Steward or representative will provide the employee with a copy of the Collective Agreement.

## 6.03 Interviewing Opportunity

A representative of the Union shall be given an opportunity to interview each new employee within regular working hours, without loss of pay, for a maximum of thirty (30) minutes during the first month of employment for the purpose of acquainting the new employee with the benefits and duties of union membership and the employee's responsibilities and obligations to the Employer and the Union.

# **Article 7 - Employer/Union Relations**

7.01 All correspondence between the parties, arising out of this Collective Agreement or incidental thereto, shall pass to and from the Employer and the President of the Union.

# 7.02 Union Negotiating Committee

The Employer and representatives of the Union Negotiating Committee shall meet at the request of either party to consider any matter of mutual interest.

7.03 The actual number of members of the Union Negotiating Committee shall be mutually agreed upon between the Employer and the Union, but in no case shall the number representing the Union exceed four (4).

7.04 All executive members of the Union or any person serving on any Committee for the Union shall be paid for such hours as required to meet with the Employer. Part-time employees who are elected to represent the Union who are not scheduled to work on a day where they are required to meet with the Employer, shall be paid their normal regular hourly rate for all hours spent with the Employer. Service and seniority shall also accrue for part-time employees on said day(s). Full-time employees who are not scheduled to work on a day where they are required to meet with the Employer shall receive time in lieu.

#### **Article 8 - Grievance Procedure**

8.01 Definition of a Grievance

For purposes of this Collective Agreement, a grievance is defined as a violation of an article or provision of the Collective Agreement, related to the interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation of the agreement, including any question as whether a matter is arbitrable.

8.02 Working Days Defined

For the purposes of the grievance and arbitration process working days are defined as Monday through Friday excluding weekends and statutory holidays.

The parties to this Collective Agreement are agreed, that it is of the utmost importance to adjust complaints and grievances as quickly as possible.

- 8.03 No grievance shall be considered:
  - (a) when the circumstances giving rise to it occurred or originated more than fifteen (15) working days before the filing of the grievance; or,
  - (b) where more than fifteen (15) working days have elapsed since the griever became aware of, or ought reasonably to have become aware of, the circumstances or incident(s) giving rise to the grievance; and
  - (c) where the aggrieved employee(s) has/have not discussed the complaint with the Employer in an effort to resolve the complaint.
- 8.04 Grievances shall be adjusted and settled as follows:

Step No. 1:

Failing satisfactory settlement within five (5) working days after the discussion was held in 8.03 (c), a grievance may be filed by the Union, which shall be in writing and signed by the grieving employee and shall be submitted to the CEO/Library Manager and/or the Library Services Manager. The CEO/Library

Manager and/or the Library Services Manager shall render a decision, in writing, within five (5) working days after receipt of the grievance.

### Step No. 2:

Failing satisfactory settlement in Step 1, the Union shall submit the grievance, within five (5) working days after receipt of the decision of the CEO/Library Manager and/or Library Services Manager, to the Manager, Human Resources and/or designate, who shall hold a meeting with the Griever and their Union Representative within fifteen (15) working days after submission of the grievance to the Manager, Human Resources. The Manager, Human Resources or designate, shall render a decision, in writing, within fifteen (15) working days after the meeting.

#### Step No. 3:

Failing satisfactory settlement in Step 2, and if the grievance is one which concerns the interpretation or alleged violation of this Collective Agreement, the Union may refer the grievance to arbitration in accordance with Article 9, so long as written notice of such referral is provided to the Employer within ten (10) working days after receipt of the decision of the Manager, Human Resources, or designate.

## 8.05 Policy Grievance

The Union and its representatives shall have the right to originate a grievance on behalf of a group of employees or when a dispute involving a question of general application or interpretation occurs. Such a grievance shall commence at Step No. 2.

## 8.06 Union May Institute Grievances

The Union and its representatives shall have the right to originate a grievance on behalf of an employee in the manner provided in the grievance procedure. Such a grievance shall commence at Step No.1.

## 8.07 Employer May Institute Grievances

The Employer may similarly file a policy grievance against the Union. Any such grievance may be filed with the President, Secretary or a Steward of the Union within and not after fifteen (15) working days from the date of the incident giving rise to the grievance. The Union will give its answer to such grievance in writing within five (5) working days of the date the written grievance was filed with it. If the Employer is not satisfied with such answer, the grievance may then be referred to arbitration by the Employer under Article 9.

### 8.08 Replies in Writing

Replies to grievances stating reasons shall be in writing at all stages.

#### 8.09 Facilities for Grievances

The Employer shall supply the necessary facilities for the grievance meetings.

#### 8.10 Mutually Agreed Changes

Any mutually agreed changes to this Collective Agreement shall form part of this Collective Agreement and are subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure.

#### 8.11 Failure to Act within Time Limits

If the griever or the Union fails to process a grievance to the next step in the grievance procedure within the time limits specified, they shall not be deemed to have prejudiced their position in arbitration provided that any delay has not been unreasonable.

#### 8.12 Technical Objections to Grievances

No grievance shall be defeated or denied by any formal or technical objection. An arbitrator shall have the power to allow all necessary amendments to the grievance and the power to waive formal procedural irregularities in the processing of a grievance, in order to determine the real matter in dispute and to render a decision which is deemed to be just and equitable.

#### **Article 9 - Arbitration**

## 9.01 Composition of Board of Arbitration

When either party requests that a grievance be submitted to arbitration, the request shall be made by registered mail addressed to the other party of the Collective Agreement, indicating the name of its nominee on an arbitration board. Within five (5) days thereafter, the other party shall answer by registered mail indicating the name and address of its nominee to the arbitration board. The two (2) nominees shall then meet to select an impartial chairperson.

## 9.02 Failure to Appoint

If the party receiving the notice fails to appoint a nominee, or if the two (2) nominees fail to agree upon a chairperson within seven (7) days of their appointment, the appointment shall be made by the Ministry of Labour - Office of Arbitration upon request of either party.

#### 9.03 Board Procedure

The Board shall determine its own procedure, but shall give full opportunity to all parties to present evidence and make representations. In its attempts at justice, the Board shall, as much as possible, follow a layperson's procedure and shall avoid legalistic or formal procedures. It shall hear and determine the difference or allegation and render a decision.

#### 9.04 Decision of the Board

The decision of the majority shall be the decision of the Board. Where there is no majority decision, the decision of the chairperson shall be the decision of the Board. The decision of the Board of Arbitration shall be final, binding and enforceable on all parties, and may not be changed. The Board of Arbitration shall not have the power to change this Collective Agreement or to alter, modify or amend any of its provisions. However, the Board shall have the power to dispose of a grievance by any arrangement which it deems just and equitable.

### 9.05 Disagreement on Decision

Should the parties disagree as to the meaning of the Board's decision, either party may apply to the Chairperson of the Board of Arbitration to reconvene the Board to clarify the decision, which it shall do within five (5) days.

## 9.06 Expenses of the Board

Each party shall pay:

- (a) The fees and expenses of the nominee it appoints;
- (b) One-half of the fees and expenses of the Chairperson.

## 9.07 Amending of Time Limits

The time limits fixed in both the grievance and arbitration procedure may be extended by the written consent of the parties. Subject to 8.11, the time limits in the grievance and arbitration procedure are not mandatory but directory.

#### 9.08 Witnesses

At any stage of the grievance or arbitration procedure, the parties shall have the assistance of any employee(s) concerned as witnesses and any other witnesses. The Employer agrees that any written statement against any member of the Union by another member of the Union shall not be used in grievances, arbitration, or any other matter, excepting accident matters, that could be detrimental to employees or to the Union. This exclusion does not

apply to notes, records, letters, reports, etc. which are prepared by supervisors in the bargaining unit while in the course of their duties as supervisors. It is agreed that any such documentation must first be drawn to the attention of the employee concerned, such that a written response may be prepared, if desired, and any such written response shall be appended to the documentation in question before the materials are placed in the individual's file. All reasonable arrangements will be made to permit the conferring parties or the nominee(s) to have access to the Employer's premises to view any working conditions, which may be relevant to the settlement of the grievance.

## Article 10 - Discharge, Suspension and Discipline

### 10.01 Principle of Innocence

Both parties agree that an employee is considered innocent until proven guilty. Therefore, in the event the Employer initiates a disciplinary action against an employee who has completed the probationary period and which may result in the suspension or discharge of the employee, the following procedure shall be followed:

#### 10.02 Burden of Proof

In cases of discharge and discipline, the burden of proof of just cause shall rest with the Employer. Evidence shall be limited to the grounds stated in the discharge or discipline notice to the employee.

## 10.03 Discipline

Whenever the Employer or its authorized agent deems it necessary to discipline an employee, in a manner indicating that dismissal may follow any further infraction, or may follow if such employee fails to bring their work up to a required standard by a given date the Employer shall, within ten (10) days thereafter, give written particulars of such discipline to the Secretary of the Union, with a copy to the employee involved.

## 10.04 Crossing of Picket Lines during Strike

While the Collective Agreement is in effect an employee covered by this Collective Agreement shall have the right to refuse to cross a picket line arising out of legal labour disputes. Failure to cross such a legal picket line by a member of this Union shall not be considered a violation of this Collective Agreement, nor shall it be grounds for disciplinary action, other than the withholding of salary and benefits for the non-performance of assigned duties.

## 10.05 Adverse Report

The Employer shall notify an employee in writing of any expression of dissatisfaction concerning the employee's work within ten (10) working days of the event of the complaint, with a copy to the Union. This notice shall include particulars of the work performance which led to such dissatisfaction. If this procedure is not followed, such expression of dissatisfaction shall not become a part of the employee's record for use against the employee at any time. This Article shall be applicable to any complaint or accusation which may be detrimental to an employee's advancement or standing with the Employer, whether or not it relates to the employee's work. The employee's reply to such complaint, accusation or expression of dissatisfaction shall become part of the employee's record.

When management personnel intend to interview an employee for disciplinary purposes, the CEO/Library Manager or Library Services Manager will notify the Union in advance in order that a Union representative may be present at the interview, upon the request of the employee.

An employee may request that a Union representative be present in a disciplinary meeting with management.

A union steward may discuss a complaint with an employee without loss of pay during his/her regular shift, provided that permission from the CEO/Library Manager or Library Services Manager is obtained prior to the meeting. Such permission is not to be unreasonably withheld provided the time is kept to a minimum.

The records of employees shall not be used against them at any time after twelve (12) months following a suspension or disciplinary action, including letters of reprimand or any adverse reports, provided that no other complaints, reprimands, warnings, or other forms of discipline of a similar or related nature have been imposed over that period.

# **Article 11 - Seniority**

# 11.01 Seniority Defined

Seniority is defined as length of service in the bargaining unit and shall operate on a bargaining-unit-wide basis. Seniority shall apply to full-time and part-time employees only. Should a temporary employee be hired as a permanent employee, without an interruption in service, the employee shall be credited with seniority from the most recent date of temporary hire and his or her seniority shall be determined accordingly. Seniority shall be used in determining preference or priority for promotions, transfers, demotions, layoff and recall.

### 11.02 Seniority Lists

Separate seniority lists are maintained for permanent full- and part-time employees. Full-time and part-time seniority reflects seniority date (date of hire) in the bargaining unit. Employees moving from full-time to part-time or vice versa will have their seniority calculated accordingly. The lists shall be revised March 1<sup>st</sup> and August 1<sup>st</sup> with a copy to the Union and posted on bulletin boards.

## 11.03 Part-Time Employees

- (a) Part-time employee seniority and service is based on their date of hire. Service for the purpose of wage progression shall be based on date of hire. When a part-time employee moves to full-time status, seniority is calculated on the basis of one (1) year for each eighteen hundred and twenty (1820) hours paid. This would be in the sole circumstance when hours paid is used to determine seniority their revised date of hire, once full-time, would be based on one (1) year for each eighteen hundred and twenty (1820) hours paid.
- (b) When two (2) or more part-time employees are applying for a vacancy under Article 12, seniority shall be based on date of hire.
- (c) For the purposes of scheduled and call in hours, seniority shall be based on date of hire.
- (d) An employee whose status is changed from full-time to part-time shall receive full credit for their seniority and service based on date of hire.
- (e) A regular part-time employee who is off work due to a pregnancy, parental or adoptive leave shall continue to accumulate seniority as if the employee was in attendance based on date of hire.

## 11.04 Probation for Newly Hired Employees

A newly hired employee shall be on probation for a period of six (6) months from the date of hiring. During the probationary period, the employee shall be entitled to all rights and benefits pertaining to this Collective Agreement except for the right to grieve on discharge. After completion of the probationary period, seniority shall be effective from the original date of employment.

## 11.05 Loss of Seniority

An employee shall not lose seniority rights if absent from work because of sickness, accident, lay-off, or leave of absence approved by the Employer. An employee shall only lose seniority in the event the employee:

- (a) is discharged for just cause and not reinstated,
- (b) resigns in writing,
- (c) is absent from work in excess of five (5) working days without sufficient cause or without notifying the Employer, unless such notice was not reasonably possible,
- (d) fails to return to work within seven (7) calendar days following a layoff and after being notified by registered mail to do so, unless through sickness or other just cause. It shall be the responsibility of the employee to keep the Employer informed of the current address.
- (e) is laid off for a period of longer than two (2) years,
- (f) has not worked for the Employer within the immediately preceding two (2) years, exclusive of any time away from active duty while on leave or other authorized absence.

## 11.06 Transfers and Seniority Outside Bargaining Unit

- a) No employee shall be transferred to a position outside this bargaining unit without the employee's consent.
- b) If an employee accepts a transfer to a permanent position outside the bargaining unit, the employee shall have the right to return to his/her position in the bargaining unit during a trial period, to a maximum of four (4) months.
  - If the employee returns to the bargaining unit during this time, they shall retain seniority accumulated up to the date of leaving the bargaining unit. However, seniority shall be adjusted for the period of time the employee is outside the bargaining unit.
- c) An employee may accept a temporary assignment of up to twenty-four (24) months in a thirty-six (36) month period without losing their seniority in the bargaining unit. Upon return to the bargaining unit, the employee's seniority date will be adjusted by the number of weeks the employee was in the excluded position.

During this period of leave, the employee will continue to pay union dues based on the rate of pay in the new position. The Employer will continue the current practice of posting non-union positions for consideration of all employees in the Corporation. However, neither such postings nor the selection of the candidate shall be grievable by the Union or its members.

During the period of leave, if the position is replaced with an employee who does not have entitlement to full-time benefits, said employee shall be immediately entitled to said benefits (i.e. No eligibility wait period) as provided to all permanent full-time employees within the Collective Agreement.

### 11.07 Seniority and Service for CUPE 126 and CUPE 504

Employees covered under the Collective Agreement between the Employer and CUPE Local 126 and/or CUPE 504 entering into this Collective Agreement through the job posting provisions shall upon completion of the trial period, be credited with full seniority and service previously earned under the CUPE Local 126 or CUPE 504 Collective Agreement for all purposes under this Collective Agreement. Seniority for employees entering this collective agreement shall be calculated in accordance with the following:

- (a) For a part-time employee, on the basis of one year equals 1820 hours.
- (b) For a full-time employee, based on his/her seniority date in the CUPE 126 or CUPE 504.

## 11.08 Breaking Seniority Date Ties

- (a) In order to determine seniority in the case of a tie, the seniority priority order will be established by a coin toss, at the time the tie is identified. A member of the Union executive shall toss the coin.
- (b) Where a tie results from an employee transferring into the bargaining unit the earlier seniority date shall be awarded to the current Local 1833 member.

## **Article 12 - Promotions and Staff Changes**

## 12.01 Vacancy

When a vacancy occurs or a new position is created the Employer shall notify the Union in writing and post notice of the position in the employee staff room(s) and on all bulletin boards for a minimum of one (1) week so that all members will know about the vacancy or new position. Late applications for available postings will be accepted from employees who are absent from the workplace on vacation or approved leave for the duration of the posting period, up to the date of interviews being scheduled. Employees who fail to apply during the posting period will be considered in the same priority as external applicants.

If for some reason a vacancy is not posted immediately, the Union will be advised in writing of the reason for the delay and the length of the anticipated delay, such delay shall not normally exceed four (4) work weeks.

### 12.02 Posting of Vacancies

Notice of a vacancy described in Article 12.01, shall be posted within ten (10) working days, in all departments for a minimum period of seven (7) calendar days. However, if a vacancy occurs in a job that was posted within the last four (4) months, the Employer will have the option of either posting the job again or selecting from the candidates from the previous posting.

### 12.03 Information in Postings

Such notice shall contain the following information: nature of position, qualifications, required knowledge and education, skills, shift, wage or salary rate or range. Such qualifications may not be established in an arbitrary or discriminatory manner.

## 12.04 Role of Seniority in Promotions and Transfers

Where the ability and qualifications of competing candidates are relatively equal, seniority shall govern. Selections shall be made in a fair, impartial and consistent manner.

The appointment shall be based on the following factors:

- (a) ability and qualifications to fill the vacancy, and
- (b) seniority.

Both parties recognize:

- (1) the principle of promotion within the service of the Employer; and
- (2) that job opportunity should increase in proportion to length of service.

# 12.05 No Outside Advertising

No outside advertisement for any vacancy, except for Caretaker and Page, shall be placed until the expiration of the one (1) week period referred to in Article 12.01.

## 12.06 Priority in Filling Vacancies

In filling a vacancy required to be posted pursuant to this article, the Employer shall consider applicants in the following order.

Full-time employees in CUPE Local 1833

Part-time employees in CUPE Local 1833

Temporary employees in CUPE Local 1833

Permanent Employees in CUPE Local 126 and CUPE Local 504

Any other applicants.

#### 12.07 Trial Period

An employee who fills a permanent vacancy pursuant to this Article shall have a trial in the new job for the greater of three (3) months or 240 hours. If, within such period, the employee decides that they no longer wish to remain in the position, or if the Employer determines that the employee is unable to perform the job, the employee shall be returned to their former job without loss of seniority. At the expiration of the trial period, the employee shall be deemed to be qualified for the position.

Any other employee promoted or transferred because of the re-arrangement of positions shall also be returned to their former position, wage or salary rate, without loss of seniority.

## 12.08 Promotions Requiring Higher Qualification

Consideration for promotion will be given to the senior applicant who does not possess the required qualifications, but is preparing for qualification prior to filling of vacancy. Such employee may be given a trial period to qualify within a reasonable length of time and to revert to the former position if the required qualifications are not met within such time.

## 12.09 Notification to Employee and Union

Within seven (7) days of the date of appointment to a vacant position, the name of the successful applicant shall be sent to each applicant and a copy posted on all bulletin boards. The Union shall be notified of all appointments, hiring, layoffs, transfers, recalls and terminations of employment.

## 12.10 Explanation in Writing

When an employee is interviewed for a position and is unsuccessful in obtaining the position, the employee shall be provided with the reasons in writing, if requested by the employee.

#### 12.11 Alternative Work Provision

If an employee is unable through injury or illness to perform their normal duties, the Employer shall endeavor to provide alternative suitable

employment. Such employee shall not displace an employee with more seniority.

### 12.12 Training Courses

The Employer shall bulletin any training courses and experimental programs for which employees may be selected. The bulletin shall contain the following information:

- (a) type of course (subjects and material to be covered).
- (b) time, duration and location of the course,
- (c) basic minimum qualifications required for applicants.

This bulletin shall be posted for a period of two (2) weeks on bulletin boards in all Departments to afford all interested employees an opportunity to apply for such training.

The senior qualified applicant shall be selected.

## 12.13 Temporary Employees

The Employer shall have the right to hire temporary employees for the following reasons:

- (a) to replace employees who are on approved leave of absence for a period not to exceed the duration of the approved leave,
- (b) to complete a special one-time only non-recurring task, or
- (c) to fill a vacancy on an interim basis, for a period not to exceed six (6) months, while a posting is underway.

Such employee shall be paid an hourly rate in accordance with a job classification in Schedule "A".

Such employees shall be covered by the full terms of the Collective Agreement with the exception of:

Article 11 - Seniority

Article 13 - Layoffs and Recall

Article 17 - Vacations

Article 18 - Sick Leave Provisions

Article 19 - Leave of Absence

Article 22.01 - Pension Plans

22.02 - Health Benefits - Full Time

22.03 - Health Benefits - Part Time

22.06- Legislation

Article 23 - Technological and Other Changes

If a part-time employee is elected to fill a full-time temporary position they shall continue to receive the benefits provided to a part-time employee under this Collective Agreement.

If a full-time employee is selected to fill a part-time temporary position they shall continue to receive the benefits provided to a full-time employee under this Collective Agreement.

### 12.14 Special Projects

The Employer agrees that where the Library participates in programs in which persons are hired under government grants, or in work/study placements or in any other such programs, this participation shall not result in any reduction of hours for bargaining unit members.

The Employer shall have the right, subject to the approval of the Union, which shall not unreasonably be withheld, to engage employees on a temporary basis to participate in special government projects. Such employees shall be paid an hourly rate in accordance with the appropriate classification and/or hourly rate for the position(s) as determined by the Job Evaluation Committee

Such employees shall be covered by the full terms of the Collective Agreement with the exception of:

Article 11 - Seniority

Article 13 - Lavoffs and Recall

Article 17 - Vacations

Article 18 - Sick Leave Provisions

Article 19 - Leave of Absence

Article 22.01 - Pension Plans

22.02 - Health Benefits - Full Time

22.03 - Health Benefits - Part Time

22.06 - Legislation

Article 23 - Technological and Other Changes

## Article 13 - Layoffs and Recalls

### 13.01 Order of Layoff

Both parties recognize that, in lay-off situations, it is desirable to retain employees with greater seniority, while at the same time maintaining an effective and efficient workforce. Therefore, in the event of a layoff, employees shall be laid off in reverse order of their respective seniority list (full-time/part-time) in their job classification.

### 13.02 Bumping

An employee who is subject to layoff shall have the right to accept the layoff or displace a less senior employee from their respective seniority list (full-time/part-time) from the same or different classification in a position for which they possess the minimum qualifications and requirements. An employee so displaced shall be deemed to have been laid off and shall be entitled to notice in accordance with Article 13.13.

## 13.03 Notice of Intention to Bump

An employee who chooses to exercise the right to displace another employee with lesser seniority from their respective seniority list (full-time/part-time) shall advise the employer of their intention and the position claimed within seven (7) working days after receiving the notice of layoff.

## 13.04 Opportunity of Recall

An employee shall have an opportunity of recall from layoff in order of seniority based on their respective seniority list (full-time/part-time), to an available opening for a period of twenty-four (24) months from the date of the original layoff, provided they have the ability to perform the work. Refusal to accept a job in a temporary and/or short-term capacity shall not remove the employee's right to recall.

## 13.05 Ability to Perform Work of New Position

An employee who bumps, or is bumped, or is recalled shall have thirty (30) working days to demonstrate their ability to perform the duties of the new position in a satisfactory manner.

In determining the ability of an employee to perform the work for the purposes of the paragraphs above, the Employer shall not act in an arbitrary or unfair manner.

## 13.06 Right of Return to Previous Position

An employee recalled to work in a different classification from which they were laid off shall have the privilege of returning to the position held prior to the layoff should it become vacant within twelve (12) months of being recalled.

#### 13.07 Method of Recall

Failure to signify intention to return to work after recall from layoff within ten (10) working days following notification by registered mail to the employee's last address of record shall be deemed to be a rejection of the position offered.

### 13.08 No Conversion of Full Time to Part Time Duties

No full-time employee within the bargaining unit shall be laid off based on the duties for their position being reassigned to one or more part-time employees. In a case where a substantial part of a position is eliminated, however, the remaining duties may be reassigned to one or more part-time employees.

#### 13.09 Continuation of Benefits

The Employer agrees to continue to pay its share of the health benefits for employees who are laid off for a period of up to six (6) months.

In the event of a longer lay-off, the affected employee may, at their own expense, elect to continue these benefits for a further six (6) months provided the premiums are paid in advance or by post dated cheques, to maintain the coverage.

# 13.10 Laid-off Employee Assistance

In the case of permanent lay-off(s) the Joint Union Management Committee may recommend appropriate assistance for the affected employee(s) to the Employer. Such assistance may include the establishment of a Redeployment Committee.

## 13.11 No New Employees

No new employees shall be hired until those laid off have been given an opportunity of recall in accordance to this Collective Agreement.

## 13.12 Advance Notice of Layoff

In the event of a proposed layoff, the Employer shall, prior to issuing notice of layoffs:

- (a) Provide to the Union, through the Joint Union Management Committee, notification of the proposed layoffs or staff reduction proposals.
- (b) Relay to the Union the reasons for the layoffs and rationale for the decisions, and the extent of same.
- (c) Discuss the proposal for implementing same including the areas affected, the employees affected, and the duration.
- (d) Establish a Joint Union Management meeting to discuss any realignment of service or staff and the effect on the bargaining unit.
- (e) Provide a forum to search out employment opportunities within the workplace for employees displaced or laid off.

### 13.13 Notice of Layoff

- (a) The Employer shall notify permanent and probationary employees who are to be laid off at least ten (10) working days before the layoff is to be effective. If the employee has not had the opportunity to work ten (10) full days after layoff notice, the employee shall be paid in lieu of work for that part of ten (10) full days.
- (b) Employees with five (5) years of continuous permanent service or more will receive six (6) months notice of a layoff in advance of the actual date of layoff.
- (c) Employees with less than five (5) years of continuous permanent service, but with a minimum of two (2) years, will receive two (2) months of notice of a layoff in advance of the actual date of layoff.
- (d) In the event that the *Employment Standards Act* is superior to the above, time periods will be adjusted accordingly.

### **Article 14 - Hours of Work**

## 14.01 Hours of Work - Full-Time Employees

(a) The standard work week, for all employees except Chief Custodian covered under this Collective Agreement, shall consist of not more than seventy (70) hours in a two calendar week period. All full-time employees shall have shifts which consist of seven (7) hours per shift. Employees shall be scheduled to work five (5) days in any calendar week and one (1) Saturday in every four (4). An employee may request an adjustment to this schedule without overtime provisions to allow for a six (6) day work week to be followed by a four (4) day work week, which shall be subject to approval by the Employer. The Chief Custodian shall work a forty (40) hour week.

Full-time employees may work a schedule that differs from the parameters noted in 14.01 (a), as mutually agreed. Such agreement shall not reduce the Monday to Saturday complement of full-time schedules as of January 1, 2020.

### (b) Working Schedule

The hours and days of work of each employee shall be posted in an appropriate place at least two (2) weeks in advance. The Employer shall, after agreement with the Union, set forth the working schedule of each department, hereinafter referred to as the "Work Schedule". The schedule shall only be altered to meet emergency situations. No employee shall be scheduled to work a split shift unless mutually agreed to.

### (c) Paid Rest Period

An employee shall be permitted a rest period of fifteen (15) consecutive minutes in the first half and in the second half of a shift in an area made available by the Employer.

## (d) Flextime - Full-Time Employees

Flexible hours of work, or flextime, is a system designed to provide for the individual preferences of permanent full-time employees while at the same time ensuring the efficient operation of the Employer's service.

- 1) Flexible hours will be implemented on a basis that is acceptable to all full-time employees who perform the same job within a Division.
- 2) Hours of Work, Weekly and Daily
  - i. The normal weekly hours of work shall not be less than thirty-five (35) hours over a five day period.
  - ii. Employees may work between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 8:00 p.m. except caretakers who are required to work later.
  - iii. Employees may work to a maximum of nine (9) hours or a minimum of five (5) hours in a day, provided that no overtime is required as a result.
  - iv. Flextime shall allow the employee to leave early every other Friday at 1:00 pm. Time shall be made up over the two week period preceding the flex day.

### 3) Calculation of Days Off

In calculating flextime hours, days off and holidays shall be counted as seven (7) hours.

### 4) Mutual Agreement

Any proposal for flexible hours must be reviewed with the employee's Supervisor and Library Services Manager and shall be subject to mutual agreement by the Employer and the Union. Following agreement, the employee shall advise the scheduling Supervisor of their flextime arrangement.

#### 5) Grievances

It is agreed by the parties that any decisions reached under Article 14.01 (d) shall not be subject to the Grievance and Arbitration procedure.

## 14.02 Hours of Work - Part-Time Employees

(a) Regular part-time employee means an employee who is hired for an indefinite term to work regularly scheduled shifts, up to forty-eight (48) hours over a consecutive, two week period, without incurring overtime as defined in Article 15.

### (b) Distribution of Shifts

Hours of work for part-time employees shall be distributed equitably on the basis of seniority amongst employees available and qualified to perform the work. No shift shall be less than three (3) hours unless by mutual agreement between the parties to this Collective Agreement.

- (c) A regular work schedule shall be determined by the Library Services Manager. The employee shall, whenever possible, be given reasonable notice where the work schedule is altered temporarily or permanently. Employees shall be scheduled to have at least two (2) Saturdays in every four (4) off duty, unless mutually agreed to.
- (d) Sunday shifts will be divided equally among the existing complement of qualified part-time staff by seniority. Part-time staff shall not be required to sign up for more than 17 Sundays in a calendar year. Nothing in this agreement shall preclude a part-time employee from volunteering for additional shifts. The Employer will designate the classifications and number of employees required on Sundays. Should an insufficient number of qualified employees volunteer, the Employer has the right to assign on a rotational basis commencing with the least

senior qualified employee.

(e) If an employee elects to hold two part-time positions, the employee shall not exceed forty-eight (48) hours in a two week period, but will be required to work the requisite number of Sundays for each position as stated in this collective agreement.

### (f) Working Schedule

The hours and days of work of each employee shall be posted in an appropriate place at least two (2) weeks in advance. The Employer, for each two (2) week period, will calculate the total hours and average hours for all regular part-time employees and provide a copy of such to the Union on a quarterly basis.

Regular part-time employees shall not be regularly scheduled to work more than forty-eight (48) hours over a consecutive two (2) week period in accordance with article 14.02 (a).

It is agreed that part-time employees may work, on a call in basis, in excess of forty-eight (48) hours over a consecutive two (2) week period and the Union agrees that these employees would not be considered full-time employees.

Any additional call-ins shall be offered on a rotational basis by seniority. For the purpose of these call-ins, seniority shall be determined by the date of hire.

## (g) Rest Periods

Each employee shall be entitled to a one half (1/2) hour unpaid eating period if they worked more than five (5) hours, in an area made available by the Employer. Each employee shall be permitted one fifteen (15) minute, paid rest period in each shift of three and one half (3½) hours or more, unless the employee is working a full time shift of seven (7) hours or more, in which case the employee shall be permitted a 15 minute paid break in each half of the shift and one (1) thirty (30) minute unpaid break.

### For clarity:

- 3.5-5 hour shift: 1 fifteen (15) minute break
- 5.25-6.75 hour shift: 1 fifteen (15) minute break and 1 thirty (30) minute unpaid break
- 7+ hour shift: 2 fifteen (15) minute breaks and 1 thirty (30) minute unpaid break
- (h) Employees who are unable to report to work on any shift shall advise

their Supervisors at least one (1) hour, where possible, prior to the commencement of their shift.

### 14.03 Sunday Openings

Employees working on a Sunday shall receive a premium. Effective January 1, 2020, the premium shall be \$2.00. This premium will be indexed according to the annual wage increase.

### 14.04 Meeting Attendance

Employees shall be compensated for required attendance at department and staff meetings. For full-time employees, on a non-scheduled work day, their lieu bank shall be credited at the appropriate rate. For part-time employees, on a non-scheduled work day, they shall be compensated with paid time at the appropriate rate.

When a full-time or part-time employee attends a scheduled meeting, including but not limited to department, staff, and/or a committee meeting pursuant to this Collective Agreement or otherwise, they shall be paid at their appropriate rate of pay for a minimum of three (3) hours.

It is agreed that this meeting time does not form part of the distribution of parttime hours identified in Article 14.02.

Article 15.04 shall only apply in the event that the meeting is a last minute call in. If the meeting is scheduled at least one (1) month in advance, the shift shall be interpreted to be a scheduled shift and not a call in.

### **Article 15 - Overtime**

## 15.01 Overtime Defined - Full-Time Employees

Overtime at the rate of time and one-half (1 ½) of the employee's regular hourly rate shall be paid in the event an employee is required to work in excess of their regular day, over and above thirty-five (35) hours per week (forty – 40 hours in the case of custodian staff), or on their regularly scheduled day off. Overtime at the rate of two (2) times the employee's regular hourly rate shall be paid in the event employees are required to work on a Sunday (where in excess of their scheduled work week) or statutory holiday. All such excess time must be authorized by the CEO/Library Manager (or designate), and shall be performed on a voluntary basis.

## 15.02 Overtime Defined - Part-Time Employees

Overtime at the rate of time and one-half (1½) of the employee's regular hourly rate shall be paid in the event an employee is required to work in excess of seven (7) hours and for custodian staff in excess of eight (8) hours

of which work in these hours is considered to be a regular working day. In addition, overtime shall be paid if an employee works in excess of thirty-five (35) hours per week (forty (40) hours in the case of custodial staff). Such overtime is to be on a voluntary basis.

In the event that part-time employees are required to work a statutory holiday, they will be paid their regular hourly rate, plus an over-time rate of time and a half (1 1/2) for the actual number of hours worked.

#### 15.03 Banked Time

A full-time employee shall have the option of accumulating overtime, and banking lieu time, rather than being paid for such time. Should the employee wish to accumulate overtime and lieu time, the employee shall advise their supervisor within twenty-four (24) hours of the working of such overtime. Overtime shall be accumulated at the appropriate rate as defined by this Collective Agreement and may be taken as paid leave at any time mutually agreeable to the Employer and employee. It is recognized that employees utilizing vacation will receive preference over employees utilizing banked time in the scheduling of time off. Banked time shall not exceed seventy (70) hours at any time. Banked time, including time accumulated under Article 16, which is not utilized or schedule as of December 1st in any year (to be used between January 1 and December 31) shall be paid out or the employee shall have the option of requesting the carryover of thirty-five (35) hours of banked time to the following calendar year.

## 15.04 Call Back Pay Guarantee

An employee who is called in to work outside regular working hours shall be paid for a minimum of three (3) hours at overtime rates unless the call-in is immediately prior to their normal work day, in which there would be no minimum.

#### 15.05 Time Off in Lieu of Overtime

Instead of cash payment for overtime, an employee may choose to receive time off at the appropriate overtime rate at a time selected by the employee subject to the approval of the Library Services Manager.

## 15.06 Sharing of Overtime

Overtime and call-back opportunities shall be divided equally among the employees who are willing and qualified to perform the work that is available.

### 15.07 No Layoff for Overtime

No employee shall be laid off during a regularly scheduled shift to equalize any overtime which the employee has worked.

15.08 Overtime on Days When the Library Not Normally Open

Overtime rates shall apply for all hours worked for all employees who are required to work on days when the Library is not normally open, including but not limited to Easter Sunday.

### **Article 16 - Holidays**

16.01

(a) The Employer recognizes the following as paid holidays:

New Year's Day

Peter Robinson Day (Civic Holiday)

Family Day

Labour Day

Good Friday
Easter Monday

Thanksgiving Day Remembrance Day

Victoria Day

Boxing Day

Canada Day

Christmas Day

In addition to the above any other day proclaimed as a holiday by the Federal, Provincial or Municipal Government. There shall be an additional one-half (½) day, (3.5 hours, 4 hours for Custodian) paid holiday to be taken the last working day prior to Christmas, and one-half day (3.5 hours, 4 hours for Custodian), paid holiday to be taken the last working day prior to New Years.

The library shall be closed on the Saturday and Sunday between Good Friday and Easter Monday. Full-time library staff will be expected to use either their lieu time or vacation time for these days.

- (b) Where any of the above-noted holidays fall on a Sunday and are not proclaimed as being observed on some other day, all employees shall be granted a day off with pay on either the preceding working day or the following working day as determined by the Employer.
- (c) Compensation for Holidays Falling on Scheduled Day Off

When any of the above-noted holidays fall on an employee's scheduled day off the employee shall receive another day off with pay at a time designated by the employee. Part-time employees shall be paid public holiday pay for the holidays listed in 16.01 (a), in accordance with the Employment Standards Act calculation, as amended from time to time.

#### **Article 17 - Vacations**

17.01 Vacation Full-Time Employees

Vacation is earned on an annual basis from July 1 to June 30, each year. Vacation entitlement is awarded January 1.

17.02 Holiday Within Vacation Schedule

If a paid holiday falls or is observed during an employee's vacation period, the employee shall be allowed an additional vacation day with pay at a time designated by the employee.

17.03 Vacation Schedule

Vacations may be taken at any time during the year with the approval of the CEO/Library Manager or Library Services Manager.

Requests for vacation by part-time employees will not be considered until after the full-time employees' vacation schedule is approved.

The sign-up period for vacation for employees is divided into two six (6) month periods:

October 1st -15th for the period of January to June of the following year.

March  $1^{st} - 15^{th}$  for July to December of the same year.

The CEO/Library Manager or Library Services Manager will make every effort to approve and post the vacation schedule by the 30<sup>th</sup> of October and 30<sup>th</sup> of March and will provide employees with their accrued vacation prior to the October 1<sup>st</sup> to 15<sup>th</sup> sign up.

Requests made outside these periods will be considered based on a first come and first serve basis and based on operational needs, and will need to be approved by the CEO/Library Manager or Library Services Manager.

If there is a conflict between employees as to their choice of vacation time during the sign up periods identified above, then seniority shall govern.

Every effort shall be made to accommodate vacation and/or leave requests. Should vacation request be denied, the CEO/Library Manager or Library Services Manager will provide an explanation.

17.04 Unbroken Vacation Period

An employee shall be entitled to receive vacation in an unbroken period as

#### follows:

Vacation shall be taken in blocks of one, two or three weeks. Fourth, fifth and sixth weeks are not necessarily consecutive, unless with the approval of the CEO/Library Manager.

Partial weeks vacation may be requested in full or half day increments, with the approval of the CEO/Library Manager. A day shall be taken as seven (7) hours and a half day as three and one half (3½) hours for all staff excepting Custodian and Caretaker, for whom a day shall be eight (8) hours, and four (4) hours, for a half day.

Vacation requests submitted after October 15<sup>th</sup> for the first vacation period and March 15<sup>th</sup> for the second vacation period, shall be on a first come first serve basis. Further, if more than one employee on the same day requests vacation for the same day(s), the CEO/Library Manager shall approve on the basis of seniority. Finally, and notwithstanding the above, the CEO/Library Manager, prior to approval shall consider preference for full week request over partial week requests.

#### 17.05 Vacation Entitlement

Every fulltime, permanent employee shall be entitled to an annual vacation, based on the date of permanent hire, as follows:

- (a) An employee with less than one (1) year's service as of July 1<sup>st</sup> in any calendar year shall be allowed paid vacation at the rate of one (1) day for each complete calendar month of service, to a maximum of eight (8) days provided the employee commenced work on the first working day of the month.
- (b) An employee shall be allowed two (2) weeks paid vacation in the calendar year if their first (1st) anniversary falls prior to July 1st.
- (c) An employee shall be allowed three (3) weeks paid vacation in the calendar year in which their third (3<sup>rd</sup>) anniversary falls.
- (d) An employee shall be allowed four (4) weeks paid vacation in the calendar year in which their seventh (7th) anniversary falls.
- (e) An employee shall be allowed five (5) weeks paid vacation in the calendar year in which their fifteenth (15th) anniversary falls.
- (f) An employee shall be allowed five (5) weeks plus one (1) day paid vacation in the calendar year in which their nineteenth (19<sup>th</sup>) anniversary falls.

- (g) An employee shall be allowed five (5) weeks plus two (2) days paid vacation in the calendar year in which their twentieth (20<sup>th</sup>) anniversary falls.
- (h) An employee shall be allowed five (5) weeks plus three (3) days paid vacation in the calendar year in which their twenty-first (21st) anniversary falls.
- (i) An employee shall be allowed six (6) weeks vacation in the calendar year in which their twenty-second (22<sup>nd</sup>) anniversary falls.
- 17.06 Employees shall be allowed paid vacation in accordance with this Article, provided that such vacation allowance for any calendar year shall be prorated to exclude absence due to:
  - (a) long term disability or,
  - (b) Workplace Safety and Insurance Board in excess of four months.
  - (c) or unpaid leave of absence in excess of twenty (20) consecutive working days unless this Collective Agreement or legislation dictates otherwise.
- 17.07 Approved Leave of Absence During Vacation

Where an employee is hospitalized during his or her planned vacation, or vacation is interrupted by bereavement leave, there shall be no deduction from vacation credits for such absence. The employee shall have the opportunity to reschedule the vacation upon return to work.

## 17.08 Vacation for Part-Time Employees

a) Part-time employees shall receive annual vacation as follows:

Number of Hours Worked from dated of hire as of December 31st	Vacation Pay Entitlement	Vacation Time (per 17.08 b)
0-1,820	4%	2 weeks
5,460*	6%	3 weeks
12,740	8%	4 weeks
27,300	10%	5 weeks
40,040	12%	6 weeks

<sup>\* 3</sup> weeks and 6% vacation pay will apply at 5,460 hours or 5 years of service, whichever comes first, in order to comply with the Employment Standards Act, as amended from time to time.

b) Vacation time is based on hours paid in the previous calendar year's pay periods. Vacation time shall be calculated at a rate of three and a half (3.5) hours per one hundred and eighty-two (182) hours worked for each week of entitlement as follows:

Entitlement	Calculation
2 weeks	Previous year's hours/182 x 7
3 weeks	Previous year's hours/182 x 10.5
4 weeks	Previous year's hours/182 x 14
5 weeks	Previous year's hours/182 x 17.5
6 weeks	Previous year's hours/182 x 21

Example: An employee worked 1,000 hours in the previous year and has 13,000 total hours worked. The calculation would be  $1000/182 \times 14 = 76.92$  hours, which would be rounded to 77 hours.

- c) Vacation pay is paid at the time vacation is used. Any outstanding vacation pay amount will be paid out at pay period 50. No unpaid vacation time will be authorized until the employee's vacation time bank is depleted.
- d) Vacation entitlement must be taken in the subsequent calendar year.
- e) Vacation may be taken in single days or one (1) week, two (2) week or three (3) week blocks with the approval of the CEO/Library Manager or designate.
- f) Employees are required to take a minimum of 2 weeks free from work as vacation.

#### 17.09 Part-time to Full-time Status

When a part-time employee moves to a full-time position, their revised seniority date (based on one year for every 1820 hours worked) is used for their annual entitlement to vacation.

#### **Article 18 - Sick Leave Provisions**

The Employer will implement and maintain a sick leave plan for all permanent employees as outlined herein. An employee who is disabled and unable to work as a result of quarantine due to exposure to a contagious disease, illness or injury, not compensable under the Workplace Safety and Insurance Act, shall be entitled to salary continuance from the first day of disability and continuing for up to seventeen (17) weeks, or until the employee is declared medically fit to return to work, resigns or retires, whichever first occurs.

## 18.02 Full-Time Employees

(a) Entitlement to short-term disability benefits shall be based on the length of service as a permanent, full-time employee calculated from the employee's date of permanent hire, according to the following schedule:

Length of Service from date of Permanent Hire	100% of Salary	75% of Salary
less than three months	no coverage	no coverage
3 months but less than 1 year	1 week	16 weeks
1 year but less than 2 years	2 weeks	15 weeks
2 years but less than 3 years	3 weeks	14 weeks
3 years but less than 4 years	4 weeks	13 weeks
4 years but less than 5 years	5 weeks	12 weeks
5 years but less than 6 years	7 weeks	10 weeks
6 years but less than 7 years	9 weeks	8 weeks
7 years but less than 8 years	11 weeks	6 weeks
8 years but less than 9 years	13 weeks	4 weeks
over 9 years	17 weeks	0 weeks

For the purpose of this plan, salary means the amount of money to be paid to the employee as established the first date of absence, or, as modified by the Board. Other definitions are clarified in the City of Peterborough By-law #1988-252.

(b) Should an employee be ill for an extended period on one (l) or more occasions in a calendar year such that the employee exhausts his/her short term protection at 100% salary, coverage for new illnesses will be available for seventeen (17) weeks at 75% of salary.

**Note:** If an employee stops being totally disabled while satisfying the seventeen (17) week, Long Term Disability qualifying period, and within thirty days becomes totally disabled again from the same or related causes, the disability is considered to be a continuation of the previous disability.

(c) In the case of illness of a member of an employee's immediate family, where there is no one at the employee's home other than the employee who can provide for the needs of the ill person, the employee may with the approval of the Manager, Human Resources, be entitled to use a maximum of five (5) sick days per illness, to care for the ill family member. The CEO/Library Manager or designate, may approve a single day of the family care provision. The employee is required to provide written verification of the absence due to illness of a family member.

## (d) Long Term Disability

In conjunction with the short-term disability benefits, long-term disability benefits shall be provided for all eligible employees at a level of seventy-five (75) percent of monthly income to a maximum of eight thousand (8,000) dollars, payable to retirement or age sixty-five (65), whichever is earlier. (Refer to the Master Long Term Disability Insurance Contract for further details regarding All Source Maximum for Monthly Disability Benefit and Payment of Monthly Disability Benefit.)

In order to be eligible for long term disability benefits, an employee must have a medically determinable physical or mental impairment due to non compensable illness or disease, that prevents him/her from performing the regular duties of the job in which he participated immediately preceding the disability. Benefits for eligible disabilities shall be payable after a waiting period of seventeen (17) weeks, subject to the terms and conditions of the Master Long Term Disability insurance contract.

If an employee returns to work from long term disability and within six (6) months of his/her return to work becomes totally disabled again from the same or a related cause, the disability and entitlement to Long Term disability benefits shall be considered to be a continuation of the previous disability.

It is understood that the terms and conditions of the long term disability policy are not subject to the grievance provisions of this agreement.

(e) The Employer shall pay and keep in force one hundred (100) percent of the cost of Employer Health Tax, Semi-Private Hospital, Extended Health, Dental Care and Vision benefits for the first two (2) years of long-term disability payments. In addition, the Employer shall extend such coverage for employees, remaining disabled within the terms of the long-term disability contract for an additional year for each year of full-time employment with the Employer in excess of two (2) years.

The health benefits recited in Article 22 shall remain in effect when an employee is a recipient of short-term benefits pursuant to the Plan.

- (f) Seniority, vacation entitlement and job security shall continue for disabled employees qualifying for short-term and long-term disability benefits subject to the following restrictions:
  - (1) vacation entitlement would continue when the employee qualifies and is receiving short-term disability benefits only; future vacation entitlement will be prorated once the employee

returns from LTD. It is agreed that the proration will only affect the number of days they receive in that vacation year but shall not affect the progression from one level of vacation entitlement to the next; and

(2) a position will be held available for an employee from the initial date of disability which necessitates continuous absence from employment.

## 18.03 Part-Time Employees

Each part time employee who has completed their probationary period in accordance to Article 11.04 shall receive fifteen (15) hours of sick leave per year.

Such sick leave shall not be accumulated from year to year.

#### 18.04 Certificate of Illness

a) Employees, may be requested to furnish a certificate of qualification, at the expense of the Employer, from a duly recognized medical practitioner verifying that the employee is medically unable to perform his/her duties and indicating the probable duration of the illness/injury, in order to substantiate the disability and payment of wages for such absent time. Should the employee fail to comply, wages will not be paid.

Depending on the disability, medical certificates will be accepted from the following medical practitioners; physicians, psychologists, chiropractors, physiotherapists, dentists, nurse practitioners and midwives.

b) Notification of Absence

An employee absent from work due to illness or health related treatment is required to notify the CEO/Library Manager or designate as soon as possible, prior to the commencement of the shift to advise the CEO/Library Manager or designate that the employee is unable to perform their duties due to illness and indicate the probable date of return. Employees who are unable to report to work on any shift shall advise their Supervisors at least one (1) hour, where possible, prior to the commencement of their shift.

18.05 In any case of prolonged illness or recurring disability, the employee shall submit periodic reports on his/her condition as the employer may request in writing.

#### Article 19 - Leave of Absence

#### 19.01 Leave of Absence for Union Functions

Leave of absence, without pay or loss of seniority, shall be granted by the Employer for two (2) representatives of the Union to attend the annual convention and other conferences of the Union, providing that application is made to the Employer one (1) month before the date of such convention or conference, and the number of days included in such leave of absence will be decided by the Employer, dependent upon the duration of the convention or conference and the time deemed necessary to travel conveniently to and from the convention/conference city. If the membership exceeds 100 members, then the number of representatives to attend the annual convention or other conferences of the union, shall be three (3) representatives.

19.02 Reasonable leave of absence without pay or loss of seniority may be granted for up to two (2) Union officers or delegates to attend Union educational or training events provided each request is received in writing by the CEO/Library Manager or Library Services Manager two (2) weeks in advance of such requirement. Under some circumstances, consideration may be given to a shorter notice.

Employees on leave of absence for union business will receive their regular pay and benefits for such period of absence and the Employer shall bill the Treasurer of the Local for all wages received during such absence.

# 19.03 Leave of Absence for Union or Public Duties

#### (a) Elections

The Employer recognizes the right of an Employee to participate in public affairs. Therefore, upon written request, the Employer shall allow leave of absence without pay or loss of seniority so that the Employee may be a candidate in the federal, provincial or municipal elections.

### (b) Leave for Public Office

An employee who is elected to public office shall be granted leave of absence without pay or loss of seniority for any required absence during the term of office.

#### (c) Union Positions

An employee who is elected or selected for a position with the Union or any body with which the Union is affiliated shall be granted leave of absence without loss of seniority for a period of one (1) year. Such leave shall be renewed each year, on request, during the term of

office. Such employee shall receive their pay and benefits as provided for in the Collective Agreement but the Union shall reimburse the Employer for all pay and benefits during the period of absence.

#### 19.04 Paid Bereavement Leave

The following leave of absence is allowed to make required arrangements and to attend the funeral in the event of a death in the employee's family, commencing not later than the date of the funeral:

- (a) Employee's spouse, same sex partner, father, mother or children, eight (8) calendar days.
- (b) Employee's sister, brother, mother-in-law, father-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, grandparents/in-law, grandchildren, four (4) calendar days.
- (c) Aunts/in-law and uncles/in-law, niece/in-law and nephew/in-law, one (1) day (being the day of the funeral).
- (d) Compassionate leave granted under Article 19.04 a) or b) shall supersede vacation.
- (e) A leave with pay, of two (2) days or less may be approved by the Library CEO/Library Manager. Under exceptional circumstances leave may be granted or extended, with the approval of the Manager, Human Resources. Only such time as is required to fulfill the above obligations on which the employee would be scheduled to work shall be paid for. Such employee will be expected to notify the Employer as soon as possible of their need for such a leave of absence.
- (f) Extra leave of absence without pay may be granted for traveling time to attend the funeral. The period of time is to be agreed upon between the employee and the Employer. In special circumstances, employees may submit a written request and the Employer may grant a one (1) day absence with pay due to a bereavement of persons other than those specified above.
- (g) An additional unpaid bereavement day shall be granted to attend the celebration of life, interment service, or similar ceremony which may occur at a future date.

# 19.07 Pregnancy/Adoption and Parental Leave

Pregnancy/Adoption and Parental Leave entitlements shall be in accordance with the provisions of the *Employment Standards Act* for the Province of Ontario.

#### 19.08 Time Off for Elections

Where an employee has scheduled hours of work which, on any municipal or provincial election day, does not afford three (3) consecutive hours to vote while the polls are open, the Employer shall, in consultation with the individual employee concerned, allow the employee such time for voting as is necessary to provide the three (3) consecutive hours. The time allocation shall be four hours on a federal election day.

# 19.09 Paid Jury or Court Witness Duty Leave

The Employer shall grant leave of absence without loss of seniority benefits to an employee who serves as a juror or witness in any court. The Employer shall pay such an employee the difference between the normal earnings and the payment received for jury service or court witness, excluding payment for traveling, meals or other expenses. The Employee will present proof of service and the amount of pay received. Time spent by an employee required to serve as a court witness in any matter arising out of employment shall be considered as time worked at the appropriate rate of pay.

# 19.10 Leave for Court Appearance

In the event that an employee is required to appear in Court, for a dispute which has arisen as a result of their employment, the employee shall be entitled to leave of absence without loss of seniority, benefits and pay; and in the event that the accused employee is jailed awaiting a Court appearance, the employee shall be entitled to an automatic leave of absence without loss of seniority and benefits, but without pay.

# 19.11 Citizenship Leave

An employee shall be allowed the necessary time off with pay to process a Canadian citizenship application.

### 19.12 Education Leave

The Employer may grant a leave of absence without pay or loss of seniority to an employee who undertakes to improve their education through an approved and recognized course of study, to a maximum of nine (9) consecutive months. Any approval will be subject to operational and staffing requirements and the nature of the request.

Such employee(s) shall be subsequently reinstated to their previous job classification provided they provide the Employer with three (3) months written notice of their intention to return to work.

An employee shall be entitled to leave of absence with pay and without loss of seniority and benefits if applicable while writing examinations to up-grade employment qualifications.

#### 19.13 General Leave

An employee who has accumulated two (2) years service with the Employer shall be entitled to leave of absence without pay and without loss of seniority provided they have exhausted their accumulated overtime and unused vacation entitlement when such leave is requested for good and sufficient cause. Such request shall be in writing and approved by the Employer.

19.14 Medical Care Leave - Full-Time Employees

Employees shall be allowed up to one and one-half (1 ½) days per annum, paid leave of absence in order to engage in personal preventative medical health and dental care. It is understood that this shall include paramedical services. On request, employees may be required to show proof of medical, dental, or paramedical care as the case may be.

19.15 Family Leave - Full Time Employees

Employees shall be allowed up to three (3) days leave of absence with pay and without loss of seniority and benefits in the event of a serious fire or flood in the employee's home. An employee shall be allowed an additional one (1) day leave of absence with pay and without loss of seniority and benefits to be taken for one of the following reasons:

Marriage of employee's Child Birth or adoption of employee's Child Moving employee's household

19.16 Leave for Library Conferences/Workshops - Full Time Employees

On an annual basis, the Employer shall grant leave of absence with pay and without loss of seniority for up to three (3) employees to attend library or library related conferences/workshops within Ontario. The Employer reserves the right to grant such leave to more than three (3) employees. Such additional costs involved in such attendance shall be the responsibility of the Employer. Approval is subject to operational needs.

- 19.17 Leave of absence with pay may be granted to an Employee who has accumulated five (5) years service with the Employer, and is unable to return to work, subject to a written request to the CEO/Library Manager.
- 19.18 Personal Days

- (a) Each full-time employee with less than five (5) years of service as of the first working day of the year shall be granted three (3) seven (7) hour paid personal days per year. Each full-time employee with five (5) years or more service as of the first working day of the year shall be granted four (4) seven (7) hour paid personal days per year.
- (b) Each part-time employee with less than five (5) years of service as of the first working day of the year shall be granted one and one-half (1.5) seven (7) hour paid personal day per year. Each part-time employee with five (5) years or more service as of the first working day of the year shall be granted three (3) seven (7) hour paid personal days per year.
- (c) The personal days may be utilized in either full-day or half-day blocks, with the approval of the CEO/Library Manager or designate.
- (d) The personal days shall be taken in the year in which they are granted and shall not be carried over.
- (e) It is agreed that if a permanent part-time employee fills a temporary full-time vacancy, which is expected to exceed twelve (12) continuous months, they shall be provided the entitlement for personal days as provided above for full-time employees.
- (f) Part-time to Full-time Status

When a part-time employee moves to a full-time position, their revised seniority date (based on one year for every 1820 hours worked) is used for their annual entitlement to Personal Day(s).

# Article 20 - Payment of Wages and Allowances

20.01 Pay Days

The Employer shall pay salaries and wages to full-time employees bi-weekly and part-time employees weekly by direct deposit in accordance with Schedule "A" attached hereto and forming part of the Collective Agreement. On each payday each employee shall be provided with an itemized statement of wages, overtime, and other supplementary pay and deductions.

20.02 Equal Pay for Equal Worth

Employees shall receive equal pay for equal worth, regardless of sex.

20.03 Rate of Pay on Promotion

When an employee is promoted to another classification and such promotion would not otherwise result in any increase in salary at the time, such

employee shall be placed in an experience grade in the new classification which will provide an immediate increase over the previous salary rate. The date of promotion to the new classification shall become the anniversary date for application of the salary progression.

20.04 Pay on Temporary Transfers, Higher Rated Job

When an employee is assigned by the Employer to temporarily perform the full duties of a higher paying position, the employee shall receive the rate in the salary range which is higher than the previous rate.

Where the higher position is outside of the bargaining unit, the employee shall receive the Year I rate of pay of the position or the next level higher than their current rate of pay.

20.05 Pay on Temporary Transfer, Lower Rated Job

When an employee is assigned to a position paying a lower rate, the employee's rate shall not be reduced.

## 20.06 Mileage

(a) When employees are required by the Corporation to use their own vehicles in the performance of their duties, they shall be reimbursed for all distance driven for Corporation business purposes as calculated in the Corporate Mileage Policy. The rate shall be increased or decreased four times per year, on January 1<sup>st</sup>, April 1<sup>st</sup>, July 1<sup>st</sup> and October 1<sup>st</sup> each year on the basis of the following formula:

Fifty (50) percent of the price per kilometer to be escalated, based on the increase in the price of regular unleaded gasoline as charged to the Employer by supply tender, at a rate of one (1) cent per kilometer for each three and one half (3½) cents per liter increase. The other fifty (50) percent of the price per kilometer to be escalated based on the increase of the cost of living index published by Statistics Canada, all items for the months of February, May, August and November.

Claims for mileage generally will be paid monthly.

(b) The employer shall also pay the difference in premiums between the rate for liability insurance on the employee's automobile if used for pleasure only, and the rate required to insure such automobile if used as well for the purpose of the Employer.

#### 20.07 Educational Allowances

The Employer shall pay the cost of an academic or technical course which has been approved by the Employer. If an employee's application for approval is denied, the employee shall be given the reason(s) in writing.

If assistance is granted, payment shall be made after evidence of successful completion of the course is submitted.

#### 20.08 Professional Fees and Licenses

The Employer shall pay professional and/or license fees for an employee who, as a condition of employment, is required to be a member of a professional association or be licensed.

# 20.09 Legal Fees

The Employer shall pay all legal costs for any action initiated against an employee by virtue of the performance of employment duties.

#### 20.10 Increment Advancement

The salary of an employee will advance in accordance with Schedule "A" for the employee's classification, such advancement will be automatic unless the CEO/Library Manager considers that such advancement is not warranted, in which case the reasons shall be given to the employee in writing and the employee shall have the right of the grievance procedure. When an employee is advanced to a new classification, for the purpose of future rate progression only, the anniversary date shall be deemed to be the date employment commenced in the new classification.

# 20.11 Severance Pay - Full Time Employees

An employee shall be given sixty (60) days notice and severance pay on the basis of one (1) week's pay at the regular rate of the position last occupied for each year of employment if the Employer;

- (a) ceases wholly or partly the operations,
- (b) merges with another employer,
- (c) changes operating methods,

and the Employer is unable to provide work for a displaced employee at the same regular rate of pay in a comparable class of work.

#### 20.12 Clothing Issue & Boot Allowance - Full Time Employees

(a) Permanent custodian staff will be issued the following clothing as required, to be replaced on the basis of need. Three (3) pairs of uniform trousers, three (3) uniform shirts, one (1) medium weight windbreaker, and one (1) winter parka. The employee will be responsible for the cleaning and maintenance of issued garments.

Where identifying shoulder flashes are supplied, they will be appropriately worn.

Employees will respect clothing issue which may be identified as City of Peterborough issue and it is understood and agreed such clothing will not be worn at times or in a manner which will discredit the Employer subject to disciplinary action.

The clothing issue is for the sole use of the employee to whom it is issued and may not be sold, exchanged or given by the employee to any other person. Articles of clothing issue which become worn out or irreparably damaged in the service of the Employer will be replaced without charge with new articles upon presentation or surrender of the worn out or damaged items.

For part-time and full-time employees: An annual allowance of three hundred (300) dollars will be paid to each permanent custodian and caretaker employee to assist in the purchase of appropriate C.S.A. approved safety footwear, upon submission of satisfactory proof of purchase.

Part-time caretakers shall be allowed to use this entitlement to purchase safety footwear and/or parkas. The date of purchase shall be used to determine the appropriate allowance.

#### Article 21 - Job Classification and Reclassification

21.01 No Elimination of Present Classification

Existing classifications shall not be eliminated without prior agreement with the Union.

#### 21.02 Changes in Classification

Where the Union and/or an employee feels the employee is unfairly or incorrectly classified, or when a position not covered in Schedule "A" is established during the term of this Collective Agreement, the rate of pay shall be subject to negotiations between the Employer and the Union. If the parties are unable to agree on the reclassification and/or rate of pay of the job in question, such dispute shall be submitted to grievance and arbitration. The

new rate shall become retroactive to the time the position was first filled by an employee.

## **Article 22 - Employee Benefits**

#### 22.01 Pension Plans

The Employer agrees to provide to permanent employees O.M.E.R.S. type 1 Pension, providing a pension at normal retirement age of sixty-five (65) OR, an unreduced pension with the ninety (90) factor (when years of credited service plus age equal to ninety (90)). The pension is based upon two (2) percent of the employee's average of best sixty (60) months of pensionable earnings multiplied by their years of credited service (maximum thirty-five (35) years) reduced by approved past pension (i.e. Government Annuity) and Canada Pension Offset. Cost of this pension is shared by the Employer and the employee and participation is mandatory for permanent employees.

# 22.02 (a) Health Benefits- Fulltime Employees

The Employer will pay the total costs of the following benefit plans for all full-time employees:

- (i) Employer Health Tax
- (ii) Group Life Insurance at two (2) times the employee's salary to a maximum of policy holder.
- (iii) Extended Health Drug Plan
- (iv) Semi-Private Hospital coverage or equivalent.
- (v) Dental Plan #9, to current less one (1) year, with a recall at nine (9) months for those individuals over twelve (12) years of age.

Effective January 1, 2011, Orthodontic Coverage and Major Dental Work (including but not limited to crowns/implants, dentures and/or bridgework), each subject to fifty percent (50 %) co-insurance with a lifetime maximum benefit of \$2,500 per insured.

(vi) Vision family coverage to \$650 every 24 months.

An employee may elect to use vision coverage in one 24-month period to pay for the costs of laser surgery. The Employer agrees to cover the cost of laser surgery for the insured individual only to a maximum of \$650.00/eye. It is understood

that an employee shall have access to the vision family coverage of \$650 after 24 months and from that point forward.

In addition, the family coverage shall include payment of eye examinations to a maximum of \$100.00 every 24 months.

(vii) Out-of-province deluxe travel coverage.

## 22.02 (b) Paramedical Benefits

To help minimize the use of sick leave and enhance employee health and fitness, the Employer agrees to pay the premiums for single coverage paramedical services for full time employees up to \$800.00 per calendar year for each benefit as follows:

- i) physiotherapist
- ii) clinical psychologist
- iii) chiropractor (plus \$50.00 x-rays)
- iv) osteopath
- v) chiropodist
- vi) podiatrist
- vii) naturopath / homeopath
- viii) speech pathologist, massage therapist, dietitian.

Such benefits are payable only after the annual maximum allowance under the provincial health plan has been paid.

Dependents are covered for up to \$600 per person for the following paramedical services:

- a) physiotherapist
- b) clinical psychologist
- c) speech pathologist
- d) massage therapist

In the case of absence for illness, the Employer contribution shall be paid to the above plans to a maximum of one (1) year from commencement of absence. Thereafter, the employee shall pay the full premiums through the Employer.

Where it is not possible to schedule such appointments outside of work time, and where the (FT) employee has exhausted their medical care leave under 19.14, the employee shall advise his/her supervisor/CEO/Library Manager of the need for a leave of absence, without pay, to attend such appointment. Alternatively, the employee may request to schedule his hours of work for the remainder of the pay period in order to make up the time missed, or request that vacation or banked time be used to cover the absence. Any such

arrangements should be confirmed at the time the leave of absence is requested.

# 22.02 (c) Benefits for Retirees

The Employer will continue payment of Extended Health Drug Plan, Semi-Private Health Care Coverage or equivalent for any employee from the date of early retirement to the age of sixty-five (65). However, the Employer will not continue payment of the Dental Plan or any other benefit plan, and employees will not be entitled to subscribe to same under any conditions.

## 22.03 Health Benefits - Part-Time Employees

- (a) The Employer shall pay one-half (1/2) the cost of Extended Health Plan ten/twenty (10/20) dollars, or equivalent, for all employees.
- (b) The Employer shall pay 100% of the cost for Group Life Insurance at two (2) times the employee's salary to a maximum of policy holder.
- (c) The Employer shall provide 75% of the cost of out-of-province deluxe travel coverage. The Employee shall be responsible for 25% of the cost.
- (d) In the case of absence for illness, the Employer contributions shall be paid to the above plans to a maximum of one (1) year from commencement of absence. Thereafter, the Employee shall pay the full premiums through the Employer.

#### (e) Benefit Costs

If an employee's net monthly earnings are less than the employee's share of benefit costs, the employee will be expected to pay the difference in order to qualify for the Employer's matching contribution.

(f) An employee must establish an average of 10 hours per week over a three month period to qualify. If the 10 hours of work per week average is not maintained, ongoing eligibility for benefits may be affected.

### 22.04 Overage Dependents

Extended health and dental benefit coverage is extended to dependent children, to age twenty-five (25), who are enrolled full time in school.

# 22.05 Change of Benefits

The benefits outlined in this Article shall not be reduced from the current level without the approval of the Local.

#### 22.06 Legislation

If the premium paid by the Employer for any employee benefit is reduced as a result of any legislative or other action, the amount of the saving shall be used to increase other benefits available to the employees, as may be mutually agreed between the parties. If there is no agreement between the parties, the matter shall be submitted to arbitration in accordance with this Collective Agreement.

## 22.07 Workplace Safety and Insurance Act

An employee who is unable to work as a result of an illness or injury covered under the *Workplace Safety and Insurance Act*, shall continue to receive their usual gross pay for a period of four (4) months. All usual deductions shall continue during this period. The Employer will continue to pay its share of all health benefit premiums for the total period of the absence.

## **Article 23 - Technological and Other Changes**

- No employee who has accumulated two (2) years' seniority shall be dismissed by the Employer as a result of the institution of technological change or mechanization. An employee who is displaced by technological change or mechanization shall be given the opportunity to fill another vacancy if capable of doing so and according to seniority or be given a period of training sufficient to perfect or acquire the skills necessitated by the new methods of operation. During the retraining period there will be no reduction in pay. In the event that the employee after a reasonable training period is unable to acquire the skill required the employee shall be transferred to another position, if available, at the rate of pay for that position or shall be laid off as provided for in Article 13.
- 23.02 When the Employer initiates new technologies and/or new procedures which are, in the opinion of the Employer, required in the performance of an employee's work, all employees who are required to do this work shall be provided the necessary training.

#### **Article 24 - General Conditions**

### 24.01 Proper Accommodation

Proper accommodation shall be provided for employees to have their meals and store and change their clothes.

#### 24.02 Bulletin Boards

The Employer shall provide bulletin boards which shall be placed so that all employees will have access to them and upon which the Union shall have the right to post notices of meetings and such other notices as may be of interest to the employees.

#### **Article 25 - Present Conditions and Benefits**

# 25.01 Present Conditions to Continue

All rights, benefits, privileges and working conditions which employees now enjoy, receive or possess shall continue to be enjoyed and possessed in so far as they are consistent with this Collective Agreement but may be modified by mutual agreement between the Employer and the Union.

## 25.02 Continuation of Acquired Rights

All provisions of this Collective Agreement are subject to applicable laws now or hereafter in effect. If any law now existing or hereafter enacted, or proclamation or regulation shall invalidate any portion of this Collective Agreement, the entire Collective Agreement shall not be invalidated and the existing rights, privileges and obligations of the parties shall remain in existence and either party, upon notice to the other, may reopen the pertinent parts of the Collective Agreement for negotiation.

# 25.03 Amalgamation, Regionalization and Merger Protection

In the event the Employer merges or amalgamates with any other body, the Employer undertakes to ensure that:

- (a) Employees shall be credited with all seniority rights with the new Employer.
- (b) All service credits relating to vacations with pay, sick leave credits and all other benefits shall be recognized by the new Employer.
- (c) All work and services presently performed by members of the Canadian Union of Public Employees shall continue to be performed by CUPE members with the new Employer.

(d) Conditions of employment and wage rates for the new Employer shall be equal to the best provisions in effect with the merging Employers.

#### 25.04 Portability of Service Credits - Full Time Employees

In the event, during the term of this Collective Agreement, that at least fifty (50) percent of Public Library Boards in the Province of Ontario that have entered into collective agreements with the Canadian Union of Public Employees agree to reciprocal transfer and crediting of pensions, sick leave and other service credits as between such employees, then the following shall apply:

When an employee of the Employer transfers to another employer within the Province, the Employer shall place with the new employer the pension, sick leave and other service credits standing to the credit of the employee, where applicable. A new employee who previously worked for another employer within the Province and was a member of the Canadian Union of Public Employees shall be credited with the pension, sick leave, vacation and other credits transferred by the previous Employer.

## **Article 26 - Copies of Collective Agreement**

26.01 Copies of Collective Agreement

The Union and the Employer desire every employee to be familiar with the provisions of the Collective Agreement and rights and obligations under it. For this reason the Employer shall print, at its own cost, sufficient copies of the Collective Agreement.

26.02 Within four (4) weeks after any new Collective Agreement is signed by both parties, the Employer agrees to distribute a copy to each bargaining unit member.

#### **Article 27 - Term of Collective Agreement**

#### 27.01 Duration

This Collective Agreement shall be binding and remain in effect up to and including December 31, 2023, and shall continue from year to year thereafter unless either party gives to the other party notice in writing within a period of not more than ninety (90) days prior to the 31st day of December in any year that it desires termination or amendment.

# 27.02 Changes in Collective Agreement

Any changes deemed necessary in this Collective Agreement may be made by mutual agreement at any time during the existence of this Collective Agreement.

## 27.03 Collective Agreement to Continue in Force

Where such notice requests revisions only, the following conditions shall apply:

- (a) Both parties shall adhere to the terms of this Collective Agreement during the collective bargaining.
- (b) If negotiations extend beyond the termination of the Collective Agreement, any revision in terms mutually agreed upon shall, unless otherwise specified, apply retroactively to that date.

# 27.04 Retroactive Pay for Terminated Employees

An employee who has severed employment between the termination date of this Collective Agreement and the effective date of the new Collective Agreement shall receive the full retroactivity of any increase in wages, salaries or other prerequisites.

# 27.05 Retroactivity

All changes in the new Collective Agreement shall be adjusted retroactively unless otherwise specified.

#### **Article 28 - Joint Job Evaluation Committee**

- The parties shall have a Joint Job Evaluation Committee (hereinafter referred to as the "Joint Committee") consisting of two (2) members of the Employer and two (2) members of the Union. The Joint Committee shall have equal representation and participation from both parties.
- 28.02 The Joint Committee shall operate by consensus, and shall evaluate jobs based on the Peterborough Public Library Job Evaluation Plan, or any other such gender-neutral job evaluation system as the parties may agree upon.
- 28.03 If an employee believes that there has been a significant change in the job duties, responsibilities or working conditions in an employee's job, either the employee or supervisor may, by completing the Job Description Amendment Form and forwarding it to the Employer, request a review of the job by the Joint Committee. The Joint Committee shall meet as required to review such requests.
- The Employer shall prepare a revised job description based on submitted changes, in consultation with the requester, if needed. The Joint Committee shall review the revised job description and determine whether or not the job description should be re-evaluated. If the job description is re-evaluated, the Committee shall determine whether or not the points assigned result in a change in job class.

If the points assigned change the job class, the retroactivity adjustment will be based upon the effective date stated on the Job Description Amendment Form, subject to the approval of the CEO/Library Manager.

- When a new job description has been approved and evaluated, the employee and the supervisor shall be notified in writing. In addition, both the Union and the Employer shall receive a copy of all new or revised job descriptions, including the points assigned and the job class.
- 28.06 The Joint Committee may request any additional information or clarification from the employee and/or the Employer, and may also enlist any professional assistance which may be required in order to resolve any issues upon which consensus has not been reached.
- 28.07 In the event that the employee or supervisor is not satisfied with the consensus reached by the Joint Committee, the employee and/or the supervisor may request a meeting with the Joint Committee to review the committee's decision.
- 28.08 When a new job is created, the Employer will prepare a draft job description, which will be evaluated by the Joint Committee in the same manner as previously set forth. The new job description shall be forwarded to both the Union and Employer for comment.
- In the event that the Joint Committee cannot reach consensus, the matter shall be referred to a single Arbitrator, who shall be jointly selected by the parties. The decision of the Arbitrator shall be final and binding on the parties. The Arbitrator's fees and expenses shall be determined in advance and shall be borne equally by both parties.
- 28.10 The employer and the Union shall be in attendance at the Arbitration hearing. The Arbitrator shall have the right to request additional information and to summon other parties as deemed necessary.

#### Article 29 - Joint Labour/Management Committee

- 29.01 A Joint Labour/Management Committee will be established, based on the assumption and with the expectation that mutual benefit can be derived from joint consultation. The Committee will be comprised of two (2) representatives from the Union and two (2) representatives of the Employer. A representative of each party shall be designated as a joint chairperson, and the two (2) persons so named shall preside over alternate meetings.
- 29.02 The Joint Labour/Management Committee shall deal with problems arising from the day-to-day administration of this Collective Agreement, as well as any specific issues, which may be referred to it by the express provisions of this Collective Agreement. Regarding the day-to-day administration of the

Collective Agreement, the Committee shall normally function in an advisory capacity only, and it does not have the power to alter or amend in any way the express terms of this Collective Agreement. The Committee shall have the powers, however, to interpret the provisions of this Collective Agreement. Neither the Union nor the Employer shall act in a manner contrary to the recommendations or interpretations of the Committee without having first informed both the Committee and the other party of its intention to do so. Recommendations and interpretations must be expressed in writing, signed by each co-chairperson, and ratified by the parties before they are operative.

In Witness Whereof, the Employer and the Union have caused this instrument to be executed by their proper respective officers hereunto the day and year shown below.

Severally Witnessed

J. McFarlane

The Corporation of the City of Peterborough

D. Therrien

Mayor

Clerk

J. Kenned

The Canadian Union of Public Employees and its Local 1883

K. Grills

President

K. Clysdale ///

**Recording Secretary** 

C. Lang

National Representative

# Salary Schedule for CUPE Local 1833

#### 2020-2023

Note: Biweekly Salary for all Jobs except Chief Custodian are based on 70 hours, biweekly. Biweekly % and annual salaries for illustrative purposes only. Actual payroll figures may

vary slightly due to rounding.

		0.24% Jan. 1.2020			1.75% Jan. 1 2021			1,75% Jan. 1 2022			1.95% Jan. 1 2023		
ob Class	Lavel	Mounts	Jan. 1 2020 Bl-weekly	Annual		Jan. 1 2021 Bi-weekly	Annual	Hourte	Jan. 1 2022 Bi-weekly	Angual		Si-weekly	Annual
oh Class 2	Carren	rading	Demonth	AHINA	Houry	Dr wasking	Ministra	really	La-weekiy		racarry		
Page	Start	\$14.30			\$14.55			\$14.80			\$15.09		
	Year 1	\$14.30			\$14.55			\$14.80			\$15.09		
	Year 2	\$14.30			\$14.55			\$14.80			\$15.09		
	Year 3	\$11.30			\$14.55			\$14.80			\$15.09		
	Y	\$14.48			\$1.73			\$14.99			\$15.28		
	1	- 23											
b Class 4													
Caretaker	Start	\$18.87			\$19.20			\$19.54			\$19.92		
	Year 1	\$19.71			\$20.05			\$20.40			\$20.80		
	Year 2	\$20.54			\$20.90			\$21.27			\$21.58		
	Year 3	\$21,38			\$21.75			\$22,13			\$22.56		
	Year 4	\$22.21			\$22.60		- 1	\$23.00			\$23.45		
							- 1						
ob Clare 5													
Clark 1	Start	\$23.20	\$1,624.00	\$42,224.00	\$23.61	\$1,652.70	\$42,970.20	\$24.02	\$1,681.40	\$43,716.40	\$24.49	\$1,714.30	\$44,571.8
	Year 1	\$24.09			\$24.51	\$1,715.70	\$44,608 20	\$24.94	\$1,745.80	\$45,390.00	\$25.43	\$1,780.10	\$46,282.6
	Year 2	\$25.00	\$1,750.00	\$45,500.00	\$25.44	\$1,780.60	\$46,300.80	\$25.89	\$1,812.30	\$47,119.80	\$26.39	\$1,647.30	\$48,029.8
	Year 3		\$1,813.00		\$26.35	\$1,844,50	\$47,957.00	\$26.61	\$1,676.70	\$48,794.20	\$27.33	\$1,913.10	\$49,740.6
	Year 4		\$1,875.30			\$1,908.20		\$27.74	\$1,941.80	\$50,486.80	\$28.28	\$1,979.60	\$51,469.6
ob Cines 6													
Library Assistant													
Library Technician Part Time	Start	\$25.19	\$1,763.30	\$45,845.80	\$25,63	\$1,794.10	\$46,646.60	\$26.08	\$1,825.60	\$47,465.60	\$26.59	\$1,861,30	\$48,393.1
	Year 1		\$1,819.30			\$1,850.80		\$26,90	\$1,883.00	\$48,958.00	\$27.42	\$1,919.40	\$49,904
	Year 2		\$1,874.60		\$27.25		\$49,595.00	4-1	\$1,941.10	,		\$1,978.90	
	Year 3		\$1,074.00			\$1,966.30		\$28.58		\$52,015.60		\$2,039.60	
	Year 4		\$1.932.70			\$2,006,50			52 002 20			\$2,102.10	
		214.12	9 -41 10	33 113 20	367 43	FE 1/20 3G	225 24.3 00	Ju 7 100	20 145 73	200 0 7 40	1 27.03	- VA 10	20- 20-1
Librarian 1	Start	ene ra	\$1,789.90	E46 \$17 40	grae pro	\$1,821.40	E47 355 4A	992.41	\$1,853,60	S4R 193 80	\$27.00	\$1,890.00	\$49 140 0
Librarian 1						\$1,820.00			\$1,922.90			\$1,960.70	
	Year 1		\$1,657.80 \$1,923.60						\$1,991 50			\$2,030.00	
	Year 2		\$1,923 60			\$1,957.20			\$2,060.10			\$2,100.00	
	Year 3	440.14	41,000 -0	407,721.10		\$2,024 40			\$2,080.10			\$2,169.30	
	Year 4	\$29.37	\$2,055.90	\$23,453.40	\$29.88	\$2,091,60	854,381.60	\$30.40	\$2,128.00	\$55,328 00	220.84	32,109.30	800,401.
	13			- 4									
sh Class 7							- 1						
Customer Service Specialist								5					
	Start		\$1,906.80			\$1,940.40			\$1,974.70			\$2,013.20	
	Year 1		\$1,967.00			\$2,001.30	*********	,	\$2,036.30			\$2,076.20	
	Year 2		\$2,027.90			\$2,063.60			\$2,100.00			\$2,141.30	
	Year 3		\$2,091.60			\$2,129.00			\$2,165.10			\$2,207,10	
	Year 4	\$30 82	\$2,157.40	\$56,092.40	\$31.36	\$2,195.20	\$57,075.20	\$31.91	\$2,233.70	\$58,076.20	\$32.53	\$2,277 10	\$59,204.
		100											
ob Class 8													
Library Technician Full Time	Start	\$29.67	\$2,076.90	\$53,999 40	\$30 19	\$2,113.30	\$54,945 80	\$30 72	\$2,150.40	\$55,910,40	\$31.32	\$2,192.40	\$57,002.
	Year 1	\$30 55	\$2,138 50	\$55,601.00	\$31.08	\$2,175.60	\$56,565.60	\$31 62	\$2,213.40	\$57,548 40	\$32 24	\$2,256 90	\$58,676
	Year 2	\$31.46	\$2,202.20	\$57.257.20	\$32.01	\$2,240.70	\$58,258.20	\$32.57	\$2,279.90	\$59,277,40	\$33.21	\$2,324.70	\$60,442
	Year 3	\$32.36	\$2,265.20	\$58,895.20	\$32.93	\$2,305.10	\$59,932.60	\$33.51	\$2,345.70	\$60,988.20	\$34.16	\$2,391.20	\$62,171.
	Year 4	\$33.25	\$2,327.50	\$60,515.00	\$33.83	\$2,368.10	\$61,570.60	\$34.42	\$2,409.40	\$62,644.40	\$35.09	\$2,456.30	\$63,863.
										10.00			
ob Class 9								V					
Facility and Collections Support Supervisor	Start	\$24.96	\$1.747.20	\$45,427.20	\$25.40	\$1,778.00	\$46,228,00	\$25,84	\$1,808.80	\$47,028,80	\$26.34	\$1,843.80	\$47,938
racing and constitution appears super-	Year 1		\$1,810.20			\$1,841.70			\$1,873,90	\$48,721.40	\$27.29	\$1,910.30	\$49,667
	Year 2		\$1,871.80		\$27.21		\$49,522,20	4	\$1,938.30		\$28.23	\$1,976.10	\$51,378
	Year 2		\$1,936.20		\$28.14		\$51,214.80		\$2,004.10			\$2,043,30	
	Year 4	******	\$1,998.50			\$2,033.50				\$53,799.20		\$2,109.80	
		azo.55	. 01,000.00	341.00		,	,				""		
Chief Custodian	Start	205 44	\$2,044.80	\$53,164 80	\$26.01	\$2,080 80	\$54,100.80	\$26.47	\$2,117.60	\$55,057.60	\$26.99	\$2,159.20	\$56,139.2
Anna An atamen	Year 1		\$2,102.40		\$26.74		\$55,619.20		4-44	\$56,596.80		\$2,219.20	
	Year 2		\$2,164.00		\$27.52		\$57,241.60			\$58,240.00		\$2,284.00	\$59.384
	Year 3		\$2,223.20		\$28.28		\$58,822.40			159,841.60		\$2,346.40	
	Year 4		\$2,223.20 \$2,284.00		-	\$2,324.00				\$61,484.80		\$2,411.20	
	1	820 50		300.004.00	20.00					,	,,,,,,,		
Ph 61 42	1												
lob Class 10	Start	***	\$2,992,50	277 PAE A	943.60	\$3,045.00	\$79 1 TO A4	444 W	\$3,000.00	\$80,553.20	245 12	\$3,158.40	\$82 110
Public Services Supervisor						\$3,045.00				\$82,391.40		\$3,230.50	
	Year 1	_	\$3,080.40	_									
	Year 2		\$3,130.40		4	\$3,185.00				\$84,268,00		\$3,304.00	
	Year 3		\$3,199.00			\$3,255.00				\$86,104.20		\$3,376.10	
	Year 4	\$46.66	\$ \$3,267.00	\$84,957.60	\$47.50	\$3,325.00	\$86,450.00	\$48.33	\$3,383.10	\$87,960.60	\$49.27	33,448.90	309,671
	1 2	1			-						12		
Librarian 2				-				-					000 - 7
Marketing & Communications Coordinator			7 \$2,993.90			\$3,046.40				\$80,589.60		\$3,159.00	
	Year 1		\$3,061.80			\$3.115.70				\$82,427.80		\$3,231,90	
	Year 2		\$3,131.10			\$3,185.70				\$84,284.20		\$3,304.70	
	Year 3		\$3,199,70			\$3,255 70				\$86,122.40		\$3,376.60	
	Year 4	\$46.60	8 \$3.267.60	\$84,957.00	\$47.50	\$3,325 00	\$86,450.00	\$48.33	\$3,383.10	\$87,960.60	\$49.27	\$3,448.90	\$89,671
					-								
Pub Class 12													
Librarian 3	Start	\$47.85	\$3,352.30	\$87,159.80	\$48.73	\$3,411,10	\$88.688.60	\$49.50	\$3,470.60	\$90,235.60	\$50.55	\$3,538.50	\$92,001
	Year 1		\$3,420.20			\$3,480.40			\$3,541.30	\$92,073.80	\$51.58	\$3,610.60	\$93,875
	Year 2		4 \$3,488.80			\$3,549.70				\$93,912.00		\$3,682.70	
	Year 3	250 91	2 \$3,557.40	\$92,492.40	\$51.7	\$3,619.70	\$94,112.20	\$52.6	\$3,682.70	\$95,750.20	\$53.64	\$3,754.80	39/,624

# Appendix A - Re: Christine Sieber

# **Letter of Agreement**

#### between:

## The Corporation of the City of Peterborough

- and -

# Canadian Union of Public Employees and its Local 1833

The parties agree with out prejudice or precedent to future negotiations to the following arrangements governing the employment of the Christine Sieber:

The parties agree to grandfather the working arrangement currently established for Christine Sieber, as follows:

Ms. Sieber will be permitted to work as a full time Client Service Worker in the Social Services Division, as well as continuing to work as a part-time Library employee with the Peterborough Public Library, for the duration of this Collective Agreement.

Ms. Sieber's hours of work will be restricted to forty-four (44) hours per week. Premium pay for overtime will not apply until the Employment Standards threshold of forty-four (44) hours per week has been exceeded.

Should the employee resign either position, or should her employment in either position be terminated by the employer, such resignation or termination shall be in accordance with the applicable Collective Agreement.

All benefits will be based on the provisions of the CUPE Local 126 Collective Agreement.

Resigned and Dated this 25th day of November 2020, at the City of Peterborough.

For the Canadian Union of Public Employees - Local 1833

K. Grills

P. Scoffield

K. Clysdale M. M. Mourich J. Jones

S. McCarthy

C. Lang

C. Lang

C. Lang

Movember 2020, at the City of Peterborough.

For the Corporation of the City of Peterborough.

K. McGee

J. McFarlane

Y. Peplinskie

Y. Peplinskie

# Originally signed 2005

## Appendix B – Layoffs

# Letter of Understanding between

# The Corporation of the City of Peterborough

- and -

### The Canadian Union of Public Employees and its Local 1833

## **RE: Layoffs**

The parties agree that there shall be no layoffs during the term of the Collective Agreement as a result of the Library contracting out any services or work performed, in whole or in part, by members of the bargaining unit.

This letter will automatically expire on December 31, 2023, with the expiration of this Collective Agreement. There is no intent or expectation that this letter will be re-signed at that time.

Dated this 25 day of November 2020, at the City of Peterborough.

Public Employees - Local 1833	of Peterborough
K. Grills Kullul	K. McGee facilific
P. Scoffield Patricia Scoffield	J. McFarlane
K. Clysdale of my hours (Vy)	Modern Jones
S. McCarthy	Y. Peplinksie meganskie
C. Lang Christine Lang	

Original signed February 26, 2020

# Appendix C – Joint Scheduling Committee

## Letter of Understanding

#### between

# The Corporation of the City of Peterborough

- and -

# The Canadian Union of Public Employees and its Local 1833

## **RE: Joint Scheduling Committee**

- (a) The parties agree that a joint Committee will be struck to meet within 30 days of ratification of the Collective Agreement, to discuss and develop the principles for scheduling.
- (b) The Committee shall consist of three (3) representatives each for the union and the Employer. At least one (1) of the Management representatives shall be from Human Resources. The Committee may request additional support from the employees who perform scheduling tasks.
- (c) The Committee shall establish terms of reference with a mandate to review existing scheduling procedures to address concerns and find solutions to known scheduling challenges.
- (d) The Committee will meet on a regular and agreed upon schedule until recommendations are identified. The Committee will continue meeting, as needed, through the term of this Collective Agreement.
- (e) The parties agree that the needs of both parties will be considered in the review of the procedures, and that the recommendations of the Committee will be implemented by the parties.

Dated this 25th day of November	2020, at the City of Peterborough.
For the Canadian Union of Public Employees - Local 1833	For the Corporation of the City of Peterborough
K. Grills Kuftt	K. McGee face Jee
P. Scoffield Patricia Sugfaces	J. McFarlane
K. Clysdale am hound year	Jones Joseph Jas
S. McCarthy	Y. Peplinskie Chleplinskie

C. Lang Christine Lung	

Original signed February 26, 2020

55

56

# Appendix D - Introduction of Customer Service Specialist

#### LETTER OF AGREEMENT

#### BETWEEN:

#### THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF PETERBOROUGH

hereinafter called the Employer

- and -

#### CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES and its **LOCAL 1833**

#### hereinafter called the Union

RE: Introduction of Customer Service Specialist (CSS)

Original signed December 12, 2019

Collective Agreement - C.U.P.E. Local 1833

Whereas the Employer intends to introduce the position of Customer Service Specialist, the parties agree that existing part-time Library Technicians (LT) and part-time Clerks will be grandfathered in their current positions. As vacancies in the part-time LT and/or part-time Clerk positions occur, they will be replaced with the Customer Service Specialist position.

The Parties further agree that this Letter of Agreement is entered into on a without prejudice or precedent basis to any positions the parties may take in the future.

For the Canadian Union of Public Employees - Local 1833	For the Corporation of the of Peterborough
K. Grills	K. McGee Karen
P. Scoffield Patricia Scoffield	J. McFarlane
K. Clysdale Han How Dy	MyJones brightons
S. McCarthy	Y. Peplinskie Onlegins
C. Lang Okriste & Lanc	

# Alphabetical Index

A	Thousand Tork Tork Time Employees International	
A	T	
Allocation of Hours for Modified Duties - Appendix C54	•	
Alternative Work Provision15	Increment Advancement	
Amalgamation, Regionalization and Merger Protection46	Information in Postings	14
Arbitration - Amending Time Limits8		
Arbitration - Disagreement on Decision8	I	
Arbitration Board Composition7	,	
Arbitration Board Procedure8	Job Classification and Reclassification	
Arbitration Board's Decision8	Joint Job Evaluation Committee	
	Joint Labour/Management Committee	
В	Jury or Court Witness Duty Leave	36
Banked Time25	940	
Benefits42	L	
Benefits for Retirees44	Layoff	18
Bumping18	Layoff Notice	
	Leave For Court Appearance	
C	Leave for Library Conferences/Workshops - Full Time	
С	Employees	37
Call Back Pay Guarantee25	Leave of Absence	
Certificate of Illness33	Leave of Absence During Vacation	
Citizenship Leave36	Leave of Absence for Union Functions	
Clothing Issue & Boot Allowance - Full Time Employees41	Leave of Absence for Union or Public Duties	34
	Legal Fees	40
D	Long Term Disability	32
Discharge, Suspension and Discipline9	M	
E	Medical Care Leave - Full-Time Employees	37
E	Meeting Attendance	24
Education Leave36	Mileage	39
Educational Allowances40		
	N	
F		
	Negotiating Committee	
Family Leave - Full Time Employees37	New Employees	
Flextime - Full-Time Employees21	Notification of Absence	33
G	0	
General Conditions46	Outside Advertising	14
General Leave	Overage Dependents	
Grievance - Definition5	Overtime - Sharing	25
Grievance – Employer Initiated6	Overtime - Time Off in Lieu	25
Grievances – Union Initiated6	Overtime Defined	24
н	P	
Health Benefits- Fulltime Employees42	Paid Bereavement Leave	35
Health Benefits -Part-Time Employees44	Paid Holiday Pay - Part-Time Employees	
Holiday Within Vacation Schedule27	Paramedical Benefits	
Hours of Work - Full-Time Employees20	Part-time Vacation Calculation	

Pay Days38	Sieber - Appendix A	52
Pay on Temporary Transfer, Lower Rated Job39	Special Projects	
Pay on Temporary Transfers, Higher Rated Job - Full Time	Steps in Grievance Procedure	
Employees39	Sunday Openings	
Payment of Wages and Allowances38		
Pension Plans42	T	
Personal Days37	1	
Policy Grievance6	Technological and Other Changes	49
Portability of Service Credits - Full Time Employees47	Temporary Employees	
Pregnancy/Adoption and Parental Leave35	Time Off for Elections	
Present Conditions and Benefits46	Training Courses	
Priority in Filling Vacancies14	Transfers and Seniority Outside Bargaining Unit	
Probation for Newly Hired Employees11	Trial Period	
Professional Fees and Licenses40		
Promotions Requiring Higher Qualification15	U	
R	Union Dues	3
Rate of Pay on Promotion38	*7	
Resolutions and Reports of the Employer3	V	
Rest Period21	Vacancies - Posting	1/
Rest Periods23	Vacancy	
	Vacation - Part-time to Full-time Status	
S	Vacation Entitlement - Full-time employees	
3	Vacation Full-Time Employees	
Salary Schedule51	Vacation Part-Time Employees	
Seniority - Loss	Vacation Schedule	
Seniority - Part-Time Employees11	Volunteers	
Seniority Date - Breaking Ties	* Outlice 13	
Seniority Defined10	29.00	
Seniority for CUPE 126 and CUPE 50413	W	
Seniority in Promotions and Transfers14	Witnesses	
Seniority Lists	Work of the Bargaining Unit	
Severance Pay - Full Time Employees40		
Sick Leave - Full-Time Employees31	Working Days Defined	
Sick Leave - Part-Time Employees33	Working Schedule	
Sick Leave Provisions30	Workplace Safety and Insurance Act	45